Comments on Interview with Sir Hilary Blood, G.B.E., K.C.M.G. 10.11.1965

Sir Hilary was very conscious of the tape recorder and one felt that he was
aware that he was spezking to an audience. I suspect that he was glad to go on
record and leave a historical mark, so to speak. On the other hadd, at times the
questions held his interest in such a way as to minimise his awareness of the
tape-recorder.

I felt that he consciously sought to present the C.C.S., many of the
indiVi&ualsIWe spoke about and British policy and practice in the best possible
light - though he was not wholly indiscriminatory. This detracts from the value of
some of his views.

Quite confident and cocksure about his ability. Expansive and talkative in a
very pleasant way. Some degree of self-importance. Quite candid about himself -
said that he¢s ambition always was to be a Governor and seemed to be proud of his
forwardness in pushing himself career-wise (towards the ‘room at the topj. He also,
and I think consciousiy, présented himself as g man of decided opinions who was ‘
yet adaptable, tolerant, calm and able to take the barbs of politicians in his
stride. But it is quite possible that he was just such a man.

He certainly had a grasp of many of the problems posed - I did not have to
explain or dlaborate on some of the subtler yet crucial gquestions; obviously these
were not new to him. (They should not have been since he was a Governor of some
colonies). |

On the whole I paid a great deal of attention to his appraisal of various
personalities, largely because his Secretariat-experience brought him into contact
with the leading officials. He said he was not familiar with Government policy on
the Ceylonisation issue so I did not délve deep here. But was he steering clear of
a hot issue? | |

Not unnaturally he shows strong signs of taking a more liberal line on such
matters and on political issues than he might have in the 1920's. More liberal,
mellowed views resulting from a changing environment and hindsight, however, are

an inherent danger in these interviews.

M.W.Roberts
10.11.65
P.S.

The more I meet the other Civil Servants the more careful I am in accepting
Blood's views or his appraisal of men. Quite a livewire in many fields today
(in the 1960'3) he has also had considerable experience in broadcasting. This
explains his attitude towards the tape-recorder. But it would also suggest:
considerable assurance as well as an ability to pull the wool over people's eyes.
I only hope the occasions when he is shooting a line are pretty obvious %o the
listener.

One civil servant, while respéoti@ng Blood for his activities in the 1960's,
considered him a typical Secretariat-wallah, 'a writer of clever essays'; another

was suprised that he rose to be a Governor.

M.W.Roberts
22.12,65
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INTERVIEW WITH SIR HITARY BIOOD, K.C.M.G., G.B.E.
| 10 November, 1965.

SIE HILARY BEOOD = 1. 1s93,

Military service

”C.C.SQ /iggo - /]950-

January’1920.f‘”'  ,Cadéth.C.$., Colombo Kachcheri.
March ﬁ920; , ”  ux Ahﬁradha§ﬁra,Kach¢heri.
A Kaﬁdy.’ 

April'1922.k , '?'14thkAésistant ﬁoQol. Sec.

Jume 4925, . =24 e
October 1926,  D.J., Bedulla.

April 1928. y  ‘ L.G.A., mrinco;"'

March 1930. " f', é,M., Coiombo;

fGol; Sec, , Grenada in 1930.
Subsequently served in Biitish
Guiana,kSierra Leone and Gambia.

Was Governor of Gambia and, I think,
of British Guisna and Sierra Leone

too,.
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What made you,jOin the Colonial Service?
Well, T was one’of'those peoplekwho,’at the end of World War I,
was looking for SOmething;to'do. The War came just at the end

of my University career - 1914 I graduated at Glasgow - I was

at Glasgow,University ces |

I see. Are you of Scottish birth?

Tes, Iiwas born in Ayrshire - born in Kilmarnock where they make
Johnny Walkerkwhisky, and Glasgow and South Western railway
engines and ,?’ carpets and all ﬁhat sort of thing.

My wife is Scottish. ‘

Oh, is she, where does she come from?

Ah - Kirkcudbright. Is that it?

Oh dbes she’-:yes; yes, oh yes. No, I'm an Ayrshireman. And the
question was, e e going to do, and - I don't know - there
was a sort of general‘feeling that the Empire - it was the Empire,
of‘course,'in those‘dajs - i1t was very much bigger.

Yes. , . , ' .

And I thought as the Empire got very much bigger that there must
be more jobs, and so I thought 1'd have a shot at the reconstruc-—
tion eXaminationS'it Was called after the war. That covered the
home service, the Indian service and the Eastern Cadetships. Now
in thoSe'days the Easﬁern Gadetships provided the administrative
staff for Ceylon, Hong Kong and Malaya, and I was - as a resul%
of the examinétiqnylywas'chosen to be an Eastern Cadet and I was
originally posted to Malaya. |

L see. ” ’
But I happened to be working in the Colonial office at the time,
and I remember going up to the man who was in charge of the post-
ings and saying - look, I had a letter from you bthis morning
posting me to Malaya. The place I would really like to go to is

Hong Kong because I would like to learn Chinese, but as I married
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about six months ago, I think fhe best place to go to is Ceylon,
which I'm told is the nicest climate. And he rubbed his nose and
said - "Oh, you'd like to go to Ceylon, would you?" I don't
think anybody so senior in the Colonial Office had ever been
talked to like that by a potential Eastern Cadet before. And I
said - ”Yes, I would like to go to Ceylon." And a week later my
posting to Malaya was cancelled,’and I was“posted to Ceylon; And
that's how I came %o go to Ceylon. |
Oh - with what feelings did you set out as such? I mean - it's
a strange land’you were going out to. With what feelings did
FOU oo ’

With what feelings? Um. Oh - I think with a general feeling of
adventure that one has at that age. I was - what was I? Twentj— |
something’~ I,don't remember what. In mny very eariy twenties. ﬁ‘
And there's thét wonderful feeling of adventure - going to see the
world which I think affected the younger people of that time.
And’of course, one had been accustomed to a certain amount of
adventure in the war - I was in Gallipoli in the war. And I went
out lobking forward to seeing the East and learning something
about Ceylon and tryiﬁg'to do, I suppose, if one formulated it in
one's mind at all, to try to do something useful and constructive
after the destructive things which the war had achieved.

I see. And - you - were in Anuradhapura for one year or so.

Yes I went - whean gétkto Ceylon I found that I was posted to
Colombo ... |

Yes ...

And T spent a week - I went out by myself, I didn't take my wife
with me. I thought it would be unwise to arrive with a wife
because married cadets, of course, were very unusual in those
days S0 1 went'oﬁt by'myself. And they posted me to Colombo -

I lived in the G.0.H. for a bit. And then, when I'd been there
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for about a fortnight or three weeks, I was posted to Anuradha-
pura and I went to Anuradhspura and I was there for about a yearg
Er - Mr. Tyrrell - afterwards Sir Graeme Tyrrell - was the
Government Agent. There was no assistant Government Agent. The
office assistant was a Sinhalese,fWhose name 1've now forgotten
- delightful person who taught me my job or tried to - énd then
eventually I succeeded him as office assistant in Anuradhapura.
How did you take to the solitude? ’

Well, it wasn'® as’much solitude as all'that of course, but

you see in the station there was the Government Agent, there was
the Provincial Engineer, survey staff - there was a district
Jjudge. It wasn't bne of the places where you lived by yourself.
There was quite a - quite a large'commﬁnity, and this nice Sin-
halese man was a member of the Glub; and so on. We all played
tennis and all the rest of it. One wasn't really living alone

- there was a forest man also, a man called Farrs - Roderick
Farrs - so that one wasn't living in solitude. It wasn't like
Piccadilly, of course, but one wasn'f by oneself in any way.
What sort of G.A. was Sir Graeme Tyrrell?

He was a very very very knowledgeable person. He - I went out
with himkon trek occasionally. One doesn't call it 'trek' in
Ceylon does one? Circuit ...

Circuit.

ees Cclrcuit it was called there.' I went out on circuit with him.
I went out on circuit with the Forest people. He was a very,
very wise man - he'd Just married. His wife &asn't out there.

I lived with him for a time and a lot of the first lessons that
I learnt there I learnt from Sir Graeme, and for those I've
always been very grateful to him ever since. He died just the
other day you know -

Yes - , What sort of lessons would you say you
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1earnt from him?

I think I learnt first of all the lesson of patience, which Wasf*j
one of the most important things. Then I think I learnt - I
hope I learnt the lesson of being absolubtely straight in what
one had to say if oneyhad to say 'No', one didn'f try to cover
it up ~ ome éaid 'No' and one gave the reasons for saying 'No'.
If one could say'yes5 then that was so much the better. And I
think I got my first lessons in being interested in the jungle
and in the tanks and all that wbnderful life of the North
Gentral Province which is S0 absolutely fascinating.

Do you think~your public school life helped you at all? Fitted
you for Colonial service?

Well you must'remember that I wasn't at a public school. I was
keducated in Scotland.

Oh yes ... ' ;
1 went to a Scottish - I went to a Scottish academy, but don't
you mix me up with a public school. I went to a Scobttish
academny, L went to ? Academy, aﬁd I went to a Scottish Uni-~
versity. So I'm one of those‘curious creatures who never went
to a public school. ’I‘was Scotch, you must remember that - it's
very important.

Uh-uh. What about University life. |

On yes, very mudh so. TYou see I was always terribly interestea
in my University days in the running of societies, committees
and things ...

Yes - I see.

«o+ University Union ...

You were traiﬁing - -

«+. the Tory Club and the Venitic - the Dialectic - Society
and all that sort of thing. And I had all my early training in

Committees and committee work at Glasgow, and that was absolutely
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invaluable experience. But it was translated into grown-up
life, so to speak.

I. Yes and of course, Military service helps you in ...

B.  Military service helps also, yes. But I think that the - well
Military service helped in a completely different way - helped
with one's knowledge of men ...

I.  Yes ...

B. eee ONe's reactidnsfto reople and people's reactions to me. But
from the point of view of the actual - what do you call it -
technique, so to speak of governing very early experience, being
in committees, was very useful,

I. In British Political terms, what was the prevailing shade of the
time in Ceylon?

B. I'm not quite certain I understand you. In British terms of
thought -

Lo In English Political terms -

B. Political terms what was? |

I. The prevailing Shade of the time in Ceylon civil service?

B. It's hard to say now. Ceylon is really traditionally - a country
where tradition counts for‘afvery great deal. I don't know

whether this is still the case - but it certainly was the case

then.

I. Yes. V

B. And the traditionalist party in this cbuntry is of course
Conservative.

I. Yes, I see ...

B. So one's politioal thinking probably was of a Conservative nature.

But I think it's a great mistake to - certainly to me it's a
great mistake’to try to find political philosophy at that stage
of life. One was concerned with the problems that turned up on

one's plate.




I.

Yes, day-to-day ...

Day-to-day admihietratien. I mean the number of stamps in the
kachcheri, the counting of the cash, the - checking of all that
sort of thing. Sitting as,a magistrate. Going out for my first
murder dase. A1l those things. I mean it was really day-to-day
stuff more than any overrldlng political phllosophy

Yes, but at the higher level wouldn't this shade of thought
have anflnfluence on the attitude to such questions as the
Trades Union movement and the Natlonallst X 1

I don't think that - I'm talklng now a little bit without the
book - but I don t think that the Trade Union movement at that
time - remember we are talking of 1920 -

Yes - ’, e :

I don't think that the Trade Union movement had really emerged
into Golonial life so to speak, or if it had it was only in the
Beginnings ...

In the very, very embryonickstate. On the Nationalist side, it

was just after the war you know - and one thing that had to be

done was to win~the war, and politics and everything else rather
took a back seat. But that was of course developing - I was bten
years in Ceylon.’ An&kduring those ten years the Nationalist
side did develop. And when I was later on - and I‘was in Baduila
and I was a judge in Badulla’I remember having long talks with
the Badulla Bar. Iﬁ Was a family called Pinto - a very inter-
esting family el ’ |

Tes.

Aﬁd when I happened to be out doing inspections for judgements
end things with them we used;to talk politics - they used to

talk very‘freely to me about'it all. And it obviously was begin-

ning to develop quite rapidlyfthén. But that was eight to ten
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years later. There’was very little of it in the early twenties.
However, there,Waé,the,argument about the number of unofficial
members iﬁ thé GbunCil and all that sort of thing going'on in
Colombo, but any sort of Island-wide movement was very much in
its infancy.

I. Turning to your work as an Office-Assistant, did you find that
you weré‘treéted‘as'a 'dog's body'?

B. Oh, very much. Yes. One had to do the dull things as I say

ohe had to be responsible for the stamps. The ? of course
kept them in a safe. And he had a key and I had a key.

I. Would ybu have preferred greater responsibility?

B. I don't ﬁhink so. I think I knew that I had to learn it from
the bottom up. And I think that it's awfully impoftant that men
should learn their jobs from the bottom up. You had to pretend
to yourseif that the fact,that the stamps were right and the cash
was right’and the - what was that glorious thing - the box - the
remittancé between chests - which was a box full of money that
used‘td come up with an armed guard from Colombo. You see there

was no bank in Anuradhapura.

I. Yes ca. ’

B. And so the money ha& to come‘up from’Colombo.’ And this remit-
tance - it's a lovely phrase - this remitbance bebtween chests
used to come up and have to be counted and so on. However,
these things had to be doné5”and‘the only thing to do was to

pretend that they were desperately important. And they were

desperately important. One learned one's job like that, and then
went on to the higher things iater on. No, I don't remember
being bored. I rémember being ratherfinterésted in seeing how
it really worked from the - What they'nowadays call grass level
upwards. You sée’one had’~ one got the beginnings of one's

responsibility'by sitting on the bench. In those days, you
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remember, you were taught to siﬁ on the bench quite early on and° f
I was reglonal maglstrate and took my flrst murder enqulry Whlle f%
I was still a cadet w1th less than a year's service. |
Yes, but 1f you had spent-more tlme, say, accompanylngfthe Gelo

on clrcult wouldn't you have known more aboutb what you were

doing agrlculturally?' | '

I think eventually, but I thlnk that in the first six months or

so it's a good thlng,to have your nose rubbed in the dust and
really See it from thefbotﬁom up;kﬂIt5s Tk ...

Tsn't it working blind in the kachchéri ot

No, no I &’on‘t think so. One was concerned with The organlsa’clon,a
with the office organlsatlon of the method in which the counbtry's

job was handled. And once you knew that and knew that thoroughlyf

then you were ready to do somethlng more.  Like the fellow whose
father’is a - take an illustration from this country - a fellow
whose father is a director of a company , let.us say.

Yes, 1 see. ’ |

When his son ¢omes down from the University he goes iﬁtO‘the‘
company on the ground floor and sees what its like to work with
the machinery and that sortkof“thing. Well, I'm perfectly
certain that‘s the'right way to start. ;

And wouldn't you say the genefal'preference for administrative’
work - for genera1 administrative’work fabher than.judicial t
service — was, well, usually, the result of Brltlsh contempt for

the law, or thelr contempt for the Proctors and a dislike for the

Ui oI thaie s ;fxfdon?t feé1~%hat'l'néces8ariiy did prefer
the administrative stﬁff. i used to flnd smttlng on the bench
- and partlcularly later when 1 was dlstrlct gudge in Badulla -
I used to find smttlng on the bench extraordlnarlly interesting.

Did you prefer that to ...?
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No, I wouldn't say I preferred it. I think that I was - my pind
was very even on the two things. I think that you saw into
village life sitting on the bench and listening to a case ...

Case’ v.. | |

Matrimonial case, or a partition of land'case, you saw into
village life in a véry remarkable way. I think that probably

what is in the back of your mind is this - that the Secretariat

in any Colony whebher it was Ceylon or anywhere else - the
Secretariat was thé’gateway to promotion iin

Yes, I see. :

And people didn't like to féel that they were being sidetracked
into'therlegal_side’for the whole of their service.

Oh, I seé;

I think thaﬁ's really'what's working at the back of your mind.
Was it a question of higher'status, because G.A.s were the top
dogs, so %o speak?’

I suppose thére may be people who thought sbout it like that.

I never did. I suppose from a very early stage I wanted eventuall;
%o become a Governor. Whj 1 had that curious ambition I don't
know, but for some reason or other I did, and the Secretariat was
the obvious way to get there. And when the Secretary, Sir Thomas
Southorn - who was then Mr. Southorn - and was principal assistw
ant secretary when I'd been in Ceylon two years, sent for me

and said "Look ,..

is he the person’who‘was mentioned by Woolf?

Yes, his wife,yLady Southorn, was Leonard Woolf's sister.

I see. | ’

’And my wife - ere she was a w1dow - and she came out again

about the time I went out and she marrled Tom Southorn. My wife
was at their weddmng. Tell you a story about that in a minute

but not -~ I think - for your records. Anyway, to get back to
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this point about the relative values of the legal side to the  1 *
a@ministrative side - there are people who’definitely like one,
there are people who definitely like the other, but let's be
clear about that. There are some people who are good at one
and not good at the other, or good at the other and not good
at one, I mean ...

Yes. ! ; ,

But I think, looking back on it now, I enjoyed my times on the
bench just as much as I enjoyed my time in the Secretariat,
excepting for the feeling that iﬁ one was going to be lucky, one
was golng to be'promoted,,you would then be promoted because you
had been a good Secretariat man and nqt because you'd been a

good Jjudge. | ’

Yes, I see ...

Does that clear it for you?

Oh, yes, it does.

I don't wanﬁ anybody to think that I hated my time on the bench.’
I found it absolutely fascinating. Of course, Badulla was a
lovely place to live ih.

Do you think that the Briti$h habit of rule-of-thumb, of prag-
matism, of sending officers out into the bush to manage by
themselves - was it pushéd too far? | \
Well Ceylon and Eastern cadetships were slightly different froﬁ
other places you see. In the case of the African services, quite
soon after World Wer I, anybody who was going out did what was
called the Tropical African Service Course in this country.

Uh~uh.

Spent about a year either at Oxford or Cambridge or London doing

a certain amount of practical stuff, public health, surveying

and so on - a certain amount of law, and very often a language.

Yes.
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you up against the realltles of life very quickly.
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Now the Ceylon rule was otherwise. TYou were sent out to ceylo@;;

and you were thrown into the cabbage field and told to get on

and most of u$ did have - was only a half day's work in the
country and you were allowed the other half of the day to read
your law and aécouhts and - othér things that you had to do.
Yes. ‘ ﬁ '

I suppose thédretically it was very much better when the
DevohshirefGOursés were invented which were invented eventually -
and people wére sent oﬁt'wibh a bit more training. On the other
hand  there‘s an awful lot to be said for facing straight up to
your problems and hav1ng to flnd a solution. You may find the
wrong one, you may flnd the bad one sometlmes but it does brlng
Trial and error?

Indeed, énd of courée fyOu Céyldn people were the unfortunate
people on whom the errors sometlmes recomled. But on theAWhole,»
looking back on 1t, 1t was a wonderful serv1ce, the Ceylon
service you know. There weTe some,awfully nice people there. I
never met anybody Who didﬁ't love Ceylon and love the people of
Ceylon and love the couﬁtry. And really the joy of being there,
whether you were 81tt1ng on the bench, or whether you Were ...
Strange to say, Frederlck Bowes says that the only person he |
met who hated Ceylon was Graeme Thomson. I donﬁt know why he
says that‘ k

Well Graeme Thomson you know wasn't a Ceylon man - I mean he

came in frcm'the Admiralty. I was there when he was there.

But he was an able man, wasn' t he?

He was a very able man5 but he was supposed to be the finest
naval transport’officer since Noah - that was what was always

said of him. He was - he became Colonial Secretary shortly
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after I went out and I remember him very well coming up to
Anuradhspura as acting Governor when I was there. And he had

as his secretary Henry'Moore, who afterwards became Sir Henry
Mason Moore and Lady Thomson had as her lady in attendance
Daphne Benson and while they were there, or just after, Henry
moore got engaged’to Daphné Benson and eventually married Daphne
Benson, she became Lady Moore in due course and then - he died
the'bther day - they had been great friends of ours all our
lives —~ and I ran into him years later in Africa and served
under him. But no, I think Graeme Thomson did dislike it, I
think there were reasons for that, We didn't know sbout it at
the time. In the first place Lady Thomson was nearly always
ill, and in the second place the story always was that Graeme \
Thomson was,so,stupid about his health. That he would go off on
enormous'treks and things, and try to shoot elephants and the
like over the Wéekend. And overdoing the physical side of it
then féelihg perfecﬁly miserable when he came back to sitting

in the office in Colombo. Bub you mustn't judge the reactions
of Ceylon civil serVants by Sir Graeme Thomson's, because he

was a home civil servant and not a Ceylon civil servant at all.

Wasn't he popular among the civil servants?
I just wouldn't know. I mean, I was a very, very junior person...
Yes, of course. - |

I was a cadet, and office assistant. I just wouldn't knbw -

he was perfectly charming to me. Whether he was equally charming
to obther people and'how much other people really got To know

him, I just wouldn't know. I don't know the answer to that one.
Reverting to this,point bf pragmatism. Despite that, do you
think that in the end precedence dominated in day-to-day admini-
stration? '

Do I think what dominated?
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Precedénce; Yoﬁ,v did*youfwork according to routine, and
sométimes'a sort deb1ind routine? This point has been made
by Staoe,yin fQCt. .

Well now leyt's‘"'j’usyt; think. This wouldn't apply on the bench

course, would it?

No, I was thinking of ad....

.+ YOU Were thihking of administration.

s administration.d |

1 wouldn'tyéall‘itfblind routine. I wouldn't call it purely
precedence. 1 think that’it was a question of solving the prob- |
lem as itfturned up; I’m'now Jumping a bit and thinking of my
days in Trinco.

Yes, I see.

When I was A.G.A,

Yes.

Not long before 1 left. And there one had the ordinary business ‘
of administering an area. And one went oubt with the — one's
interpreters,and so on and the Mudaliyar. You saw the chiefs,

you heard their'troubles, you trieQ to help them to solve their
trdubles if,you could. There were certain roads that you tried

to build and to extend, you’were concerned with schools, to
understand the,schOOlS committee and allythat sort of thing. And
then there were the ordiharyvday-to-day problems of the police.
You see, in most places one was aiso a policeman ...

Yes. ' '

e« ? and so on. I don't think so. It's so long ago now that

- I certainly never formulated'that‘view in my own mind.’ 1 think
one would say ...

Wo. That's what I wanted to know ...

No, I was so interested in what was cropping up every day to do

that one just got along and did it, or tried to.
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At the high level- well, among the G.A.s and in Colombo, do you

think there was too greatfaktendency to preserve the status quo?

Are you thinking largely politica1ly now?

No, not necessarily.

Not primarily.

Not prlmarlly.

Well, I think th;s is where thls question of Conservative think-
ing comes in. That you werefdeallng with people who probably
were cgnservatlvely minded - I'm not talking about party
politics now e.. |
Yes, simple c...

..{ I*m~ta1king about the type of mind.

The mind,'yesg‘that's right.

You Were,dealing'With'people who were conservatively minded and

who believed, rightly or wrongly, I think rightly - but rightly
’br wrongly, that the right way for things to develop was out of

what existed. And that it was very rarely that you had to make
an absolutely cléén but and start all over again. And so I

think the tendencyVWas to take the problem or the thing as it
was and see how it could be 1mproved rather than to throw it

out of the w1ndow and try to 1nvent somethlng new.,

An emplrlcal approach in other words.

Yes, very muéh the empirical approaoh.‘ I think that's been our,
approach everywhere, hotfonly in Ceyloh, but through the whole ...
Yes,'that is so. Would you‘sajgthat'prbvincial headquarters of
Golombo tended o quash mew ideas ifit meant a lot of trouble?

Er - again, I don'tfthihk that,aanody consciously quashed new
ideas. You mustyremember that there was\very lit%le,money in
those days. You see,the,Whole aspect of the financial gide of
all this was changed witﬁkthe'Second World War and of course with

sovereignty. And now Ceylon thinks in terms of money which was
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then T dbn’t think there was any idea of quashing it at all.

- to think back. You mean that one said you must do this this way
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absolutely unheard of in my day. We were dealing with a few
rupees whereas now p60p1e are dealing with hundreds of thousands §
6f rupees.',An& véry often thé“new idea was something that was
going to cost money whiChjsimply wasn't there. If the new idea
was a'feasible‘one,financially and looked like an idea which

would be beneficial to the provinoe or whatever it might be,

I mean, there maj have been some very old-fashioned people, but

certainly not with us younger people who came in after the War.
Certéinlyjnot, |

Now wOuld:ycu say that sometimes efficiency was sought as an
eﬁd in,itself?

Effl@lency, as an end 1n itself? Now again, I must just try

beoausefthisfis'theﬁéfficiént way of doing it - is this what you
have in mind?

Yes, well o should really ally it to the next question I was
thlnklng of ...'

Yes ...

In largér pblitica1 terms, Wasn't there a sort of lack of purpose
and’drivé?' ’
Towardsfindepemdéncé?

Well yes - in terms of ulbtimate ideals.
Yes. T think very definitely. I think toat broadly spesking,
what most senior'people'in Ceylon or anywhere else at the time
thought of was of produclng a state eventually in the far distant
future whloh was very 1argely the equlvalent politically of
England. In other words, they were thinking in terms of a
Parllament as we know it here, mlnlstrles as we know them here,
and the efflclency whlch Tthe 01v1l serv1ce in this country does

give to its ministries. Now there's no question about that. I
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mean we allkagree that our civil service in this country - and
I'm not a 01v1l servant of this country so I can say this - very F
Probably the CIVll serv1ce,of this country is one of the most k
efficient’of'them all.' An& I think that, consciously or uncon-
sciously, ﬁeé@léfwho were concerned with political development

- mark you, I wasn't, because I was never senilor enough -

'people who ﬁeref¢0ncerned with political development in Ceylon,

were probably,thinking in terms of a service which was — could
serve - its masters; it's,political masters eventually as
efficiently as the civil serVice in this country did. That, of
course, tended to slowfeverything down. It tskes years and
years'to'train a really gOOd permanent undersecretary as you
know ... ' k

Yes, it does ... ,

... 2 very long time. And I think that did slow things down and
I don't think that at that stage this Govermment - after all the
Government of this country wésfresponsible for policy as regards
Ceylon - I don’t think the Govermment in this country at the end
of Wofld War I\was‘thinking of awsovereign Ceylon in the fore-
seeable’future. Or foreseeable, or anywhere else; India of
course was very much the same.

Well, didn't this have a bad influence in the sense that it
brought a'sort'of lack of drive objective ...?

I think there was a lack of drive, and that is where p0881bly
your remark aboub fetish of eff1c1ency comes in.

Yes.

Such drive as there was was'a drive towards administering what

was there as,efficiently as‘it could possibly be. Not with

training it for administering itself in the fubure.

Yes, I see.

Now, we're way back in the twenties ...




And I was WOnde:ing'whether'éfdo‘yeu think at that,stage”the

- Too much so.

as if 1'd been anywhere else. It was - you er - there were

that is certainly very true.

a8 =

In the twenties, that's right ...

Yes, yes.

? in fact, I'm very interested in the twenties because of
vour Secretariat experience.

Yes, yes.

Secretariat’had,a'highly bureaucratic approach to problems? |

Well, it was a2 Crown Colony.;,And'a Crown Gelony is’igso facto
bureaucratlc, 1sn 't 157 . |

Yes, well ...

You can!ﬁ help being bureaucratic, unﬁil you - a Crown Colony

at that stage of development, it mﬁSt be bureaucratic.

I was wondering whether it was well - exceedingly red-tapish.

T don't think so. It's hard to say, because at that time I had

nothing to compare it with, you see — I hadn't been -~ it's not

certain things that had to be done - there were certain thlngs
that had to be properly done. Proposals and so on had To be
examined; the country had to be administered. And 1t may have
been - administered without a great &eal'of imagination - I
think that is true.

Uh-uh.

It had to be administered without a great deal of money, and

Yes. ,

And iﬁ had to be administered following on a policy in this
country whioh was hot, as I eay,‘thinking of political advance
at a very’rapid’tate. There was political advance, but not at a
very great'paee.' You see that all followed from World War II.
Do you think at that stage in the 1920s the Secretariat was too
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centralised? Had it beédme a bottleneck? |

Yes, 1 think it was a bottleneck, and the result was that the
Principal Assistant Colonial,Seéretary, who when I went there
was Sir Tom Southdrﬁ‘and’later Mark Young, those were the two
under whom I worked in’myysecretariat days, they were grstly

overWorked and they used to start work in their houses aboUt

‘half-past six or Seven in the mornihg’énd then go to the office

and finally get home about time for dinner. That happened day
after day and week after week and month after month. It was a

most'killing job. The rest of us weren't quite so heavily worked,

~ but we-weré'pretty'heavily wdrked, because there was that bottle-

.neék;5 But you muét’have the bobtleneck - you see - until you

come tbya Ministerial system.

Yes, I’sée cee / .

As’long“as the Governor,is’responsible there's got to be a
bottlene¢k~[in'dealing with ??] him.

And this was realised by the vaernor and the local ...7

I think we a1l knew that. We would all have been glad to find
some othér méthbd.

Becausé;yl mean, I broaéhed the subject because the Royal Com-~
mission made that poimt. |

Yes, yes,~fl‘a forgoﬁten that. Yes.

T

Interestihg, you khow; about the Donald Moore Commission. It
was the'one that this country made to break away from ...

Yes oas ’

ees it Wasfthe’Westminster model and the new people in Ceylon
didn't like it. They said "Let's go back".

Just a brief point. Do you know of any occasion when Government
destroyed embarraséingJcorrespondenée?

Destroyed the ...?
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Destroyed embarrassing correspondence.

I can't think of any case ...

Because one ’ . |
Are there cases? How interésting. They certeinly never showed
it to me. ‘

Strong mentions one - yéu see'~rwhere'he sort of,suffere& soe
Really. Oh yes?

And this ... ,

John Strong, you mean? Strong ...

A, N Strong, he's a ...

Yes,,yes, yes.,;Now that's very interesting. ©No, I never had any

of mine &estroyed'that I know of. I certainly never destroyed

anybody els€s. I wonder if he's got that right.

~ This is what Bowes has told him.
' Oh.ﬂ WEll that must be going back to the bad o0ld days when Bowes N

Wasya_young,man. He was a very old man when he died. I wonder

if'theré's any:miqup here with the system of destroyingyreoords_

~ which - useless records - which Mark Young developed very much.

Ifdon'tfsay'that he did do. But there was a great drive to
preVent useless'papefs littering up the record office.

He*won‘t be very popular with historians!

And he did a tremendous sorting out of stuff which was quite use-
1ess. And burnlng it. DNot w1th a view to destroying anything .
which was embarrassing. Well, 1t s very interesting., I'd llke’
to'see'é or hear something about this. It's a new one on me
altogether.  k

Would,you say'that non-European civil servants were excluded from
the substantive administrative,posts? This is a question on
Ceylonisation.

Well, there wére‘very few non-European civil servants in my day.

Because there's a feeling that they were shunted into the judiCial
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line ...

Yes.

And they were ...

Now - wait a minute. Let's‘go back. I think there was some
arrangemehh'whereby’lOCal'civil servants - which, for’the most
part we:r’e non—-European - could only - and who hadn't got the
seme qualifications - the same university qualifications - as

a European - cbuldn't g0 higher in the grading system than
certain classes. Is that right I wonder? This is so long ago
that I'm beginning to forget. I mean - well there was your
father, for example. And there were various other people - and
there were certain European civil servants who'd gone straight
into the service in Ceylon. There was some rule I think that in
certain cases if they hadn't got the same academic quaiificationsk
that the Easﬁern Cadets had - I'm taking an Eastern Cadet point
of view - that they Couldn‘t go higher than a certain grade. It
might have been Grade % or whatever it was. I think I'm right
in thié, but I would have to- oughtn't to be quoted saying it
because it may be'ingdrrect. And that, of course, would mean
that they were shut out from certain Jjobs which were only open

in the higher classes.

Yes, you see there was~this political démand for more rapid

Ceylonisation - and I‘know'that the policy level it was arguedk
that there shouldn't be too rapid Ceylonisation - do you know
what the arguments were?

No. Because I don't think that that was really cropping up in

my time, or if it Was; it was being argued at a level that I

wasn't in on at all.

; Oh, I see.

My recollection was that,in.my young days I learnt my early jobs

from the Ceylon - native Ceylon civil servants. They taught me,
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I thought, eXtremély well. ‘
Yes. I think One'ofythe principal arguments adopted was that
they were involved in the 1o¢al situation and - you know -~ come
from certain partidular oasﬁES;;Andkit was argued that the
people wouldnft trust the impartiality of their decisions.
Well, 1 ﬁhink'that"was a difficdlty which did ariée in certain
places.  After.al1, in this coﬁntry, for example, it's easy.
Let's think’of'judges, let's’think of the judicial side which
is an easier one, perhaps. This country's so big that it's a

most unusual thing for a judge to have aﬁybody who appears before

~ him - who's somebody that he knows. Well, within Ceylon - much
1 smaller'country - where you've got a local judge, unless he

~ comes from Jaffna and you post him to judge at Galle, or the

other way'rcund, it would be very unlikely that in the course of
two or three weeks' work the people that he knew didn't appear
before him. It happened once with me with a European divorce
case when I was judge in Badulla, when I did know, df course,
the pecple“very well. And so I asked that somebody else should
try it becauSe they’were both friends of mine. But if you
multiply that’up,"you see, as you would with a Ceylon - Ceylonese
born civil,servant - there was that danger at the time.
Yes,’bﬁt..‘ |

It may be that we exaggerated it, I wouldn't know.

But the point is that, if you maintain that argument, self-
government would never have been possible ... |

No. k

ces and'you wouldn't’haVe got an administrative cadre as such.
No;’ It may well have been.a'false argument. I don't know what

the feeling about ..,

And you'see, if they were sent - it could spply to judicial

cases too. And why were they sent into the judicial line and not
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into the administrative?

Mmm, TYes. But this, of course, is very much higher policy
than’I was concerned with in thbse days. IAwas a young man of
less than thirty, remember, at that time. |

Could you - would you like to comment on the village headman
system and the gansabhas?

Well, we found that, as one went out as a young man, we found it
and it was the system - it was the form of indirect rule to
gquote Lugard's phrase.

Yes. ;

It was the form of indirect rule which we found there. And
which we worked through, which we accepted. The gansabhawas
were, of course, traditional. They satisfied the villages, ap-

parently, for many'hundreds of years, perhaps more.

Did you find them useful - the gansabhas?

O yes, very definitely. In the North Central Province particu-
1arly’where you got, of course all this ...

Administratively ...?

Administratively; I mean things like irrigation work and 21l
that sort of thing. You know, the date for the ...

... would it be correct to say that on the whole they failed to

maintain many of the village banks.

In the North Central Province, which is the one I really know,i

which of course is the great irrigation area, there were vast

numbers of villagé tanks had been allowed to go into disrepair,
and which there was né money forkthe gansabhawa to repair. And
there wasn't enough labour., You see it was ome of the hotbeds

of malaria in those days. |

Yes.

And it may well be that the reason for the tremendous decrease

in the population in the North Central Province from the days




- 24

when 1t was the great_base of Buddhist rule and the temples, andfxi
so on, it may well be that was malaria. Well, that's a side ’
issue. T think thab within the limits which the council boroughs
had in the way of calling on labour and spending money, they did
their best — did it reasonably well. But they were faced in

the North Central PrdVincé'with a préblem which could only

have been solved by the expenditure of a vast amount of money
and probably by some organisation which was much more technically
efficient than the gansabhawas were. ’

Yes, I see,

On the question of headmen. 7You got good headmen, you got bad
headmen. Some,of them were very good and some 6f them were very
bad. But 1t was the system of local government at the time. Itﬁ
was again traditional, and it carried it through those years \
until whatever the system is now - are there still village head-
men?

Oh yes, they still have them - but on a different‘basis.

If you found them useful, no doubt we did.

Yes. ,Did:you have to rely on them a lot?

A good’deal,fyes.’;It,depended on your knowledge of the language.
I was - my Sinhalése was quite reasonbly good. My Tamil wasn't.

I had passed in Tamil, I wouldn't have liked %o try to carry on

a conversation in Tam115 but I'd carry on a conversation in
Sinhalese quite éaSily.‘

Did you trust them really? I mean, did you ...?

I was always suépicious. I always checked and re-checked.
Especially on land questions.

Especially on lan& gquestions. Very much on land questions.
Was corruption rife? I mean, smong the héadmen?

Well, I never came‘across very bad examples of it. There's a

nice story, you know, of the Kandyan - chief Kandyan headman who
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was said to be thé'most honest headman in the whole Kandyan

province. Do you knbw that story?

No, I don't.

I waé told about this - I was O.A., Kandy at the time. They
said to me that so-and-so - 1l've forgotten who it was now - was
the really honest Kan&yan}héadman. And I said, well, what do
vou mean by honest? And they said, well, when he's got a job
to be filled, everjbody who wants it sends a bribe to him, and
he sends them all back except the one he gets from the man who
fills the job! Well, I think that's very reasonable.

Yes.

Like payment for a specific service, like putting a stamp on a
letter. No, I've no doubt that there was a certain amount of
corruption; I've no doubt a certain amount of it that we
foreignérsfcould never have found out. But for all accounts and
purposes, I think nothing like as bad as it has been since.
Was'fhere‘a lot of government by cliqgue, among the héa&men,
their families,and relations? ‘

I think theré was a,certain amount. Of course a certain - some
of these jobs were almost hereditary - not quite.

Yes, yes. "

But very nearly. But the idea was ...

Do you think that,was,good?* Heredity?

Well, I don't think you need exclude a man because he happens

“to be the son of somebody. After all there is the 14th earl and

the 44th Mr. Smith.

Yes, 1 sééQ

I think its a thing you've got to use - to use in the proper
way. I don't think a man should be'- get a Jjob because he's
somebody's son, bubt equally, I don't think he should be debarred

from the Jjob because he's somebody's son.
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Well, if I may switch to the political field. What sort of
Governor was Brigadier-General Manning?

He - well, now you've gone again back to my very early days.
Yes. ’ 4

Of course, I wasn't in a really very good position to judge.

He was a soldier, of céurse. He'd been a soldier, been quite a
good soldier. The sort of general view I think was that he was
extraordinarily lucky to have become Governor of Ceylon. He

was an honest man, I would say, a very straight man. I wouldn't
say that he had a great brain. I wouldn't say that he was of

a super intelligence. DBut I would have said, from what little

I know of him, and I knew him very little, as I say, I was very
young, I should say that he was a straightforward, honest, hard-
working man, who was primarily interested in Ceylon. And in |
nothing else.

I was wondering, do you know whether it was he who was res-
ponsible for the constitutional reforms as such - 1920 and 1924%
Yes, very well. Very largely, I mean, he and the Secretariat -
after ali, Governors don't invent these things.

No. 1 ésk this because it is well known that Clifford wrote
MacCullum's despatch, the reforms despatch.

No, you’méan, when Sir Hugh was Colonial Secretary. Yes, well,
that may well be, but after all, all these things are largely ;..
... work of a team. |

It's the Work of a team, not the work of an individual. I was
never lucky enough when I was governing to”find a colonial
Secretary who wrobte as good despatches as I did, so I used ‘o
write my own.

I see.

But Sir hugh, of course, was a man with tremendous brains.

Oh, yes.
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‘He was a very, very great man indeed.

But is it true that he was a bit off his head in Ceylon?

Well, it was just'heading that way. Again this is - you must
deal with this delicately. |

Rather, yes.’

of course, he was beginning to be odd from time to time. He got
very much werse; of course, when he went to Malaya. But, I-
mean, he was quite charming and there was nothing odd about him
to meet and so on. When I was in Badulla, he came up and said
- when Festing was the Government Agent - we played a lot of
bridge with hlm, ny w1fe and I, he was perfectly charming. And
I remember when I'd been in Colombo for something and 1'd gone
to hear him lecture on Joseph Gonra@‘— you know the stories
about Conrad and Clifford ...

No. I know that he had a very Conrad-like life in ...

Ah well now, there's a lot of stuff here that you should pursue

with someone who knows more sbout it than I do. But when

‘Clifford'was‘; Clifford was in Ceylon twice you know - he was

Colonial Becretary and then he was Governor. Well now, before I
went out,'whenfhe Was there as Colonial Secretary, Conrad came
and stayed with him.

On, 1 see;

And - this is the story as'I know it, but you would have to check
on'this."And he had with him one of his novels, one of his early
books Whieh,he gave to Glifford to read. And Clifford read it
and Was tremendously impressed by it. And Clifford in some way

- I don't quite know how - had got a pull with one of the

American papers é’Whetherfit was the Saturday Evening Post or

what, L don't know, but one of them. And it was through Clifford
- or at least thls is The story as I've always understood it -

it was through Gllfford that Conrad got his first novel publlshed
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Oh, 1 see. ’

That you should check bn, but it’s interesting and you might
like to sort it out. But Clifford was a most brilliant and
charming perSOn;,VWell' he was 1eéturing on Conrad and I was
in Golombo for somethlng - 1! ve forgotten what - and I went to
nesr him. And, three or four days later, I was back in Badulla
and we were dlnlng w;th Mr.,Festlng. Clifford was there, and

I quoted'ajsenﬁence'from'his‘éwn iecture to him. And he said
"Oh, that’was from my lectﬁre’the‘other day, you must have read

it". I said "No, sir, I didn't read it". And he said, "Oh,

‘how do you’know anything about it." And I said, "I went to hear

you." He said, "Did you?" And I said "Yes." He said, "You
were in Colombo, ahdiyouytook the trouble to come and hear a
le@ture‘on’Coﬁrad.ﬁﬂyAnd I said, "Yes." He said, "Oh, that was
very nice 6f ydu.”j And 3 weék laterkI got a printed copy of the
lecture with a message onkthe’ouﬁsidé'from him. Now that was
the'sorﬁ'of chérming thing that Clifford would do. There was
nothing insane about that.

Well was he - Bowes likes Clifford, but he says he was a vain
man. ' ’

He was a?

Very, véry vain.

Vain?

Yes.

Proud?

Yes, that's right.

Might have been. I don't remember noticing it particularly. I
think what one noticed - what the young beople like myself
noticed mostly was hlS enormous capa01ty for work.

Yes, he was very 1ndustr10us.

Used to start at some God-forsaken hour — four or five in the
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mornihg. Tremendous work. And of course his stuff - a good
minute by Clifford, a really’welléconsidered minuteby Clifford
had got everything in the world in it. This arose from Manning.
From the point of view of intellecﬁual ¢apabilities there was

no queétion, there was no comparison be%ween the two. ‘

What abput Sif Cecil Clementi; because Bowes had some pretty
sharp things to say about him.

Yoo, well Sir Cecil, I worked under, in the Secretariat. And
you know,yi 1iked’him‘personally'very‘much indeed. He came

frdm Hong Kbng; as,you know. He'd got a good brain. He wasn't
in the Same class — to‘my mind - wasn't in the same class as
Glifford, snd I always felt he was a little bit ab sea in Ceylon,
he was never really éompletely happy. I don't quite know what it
was. Whether it was the country, or whether it was the sort of
work, or whether it Was the sort of hankering for Hong Kong, which
of course woul& be quite different. I just don't know; I liked

him personally enormously.

BoWes,thﬁhks highly of his intellectual capacity as such, but
I think tha%‘s'probably partly true. Probably partly true.

Do you think, switching to another subject, do you know enything
about the oommunal'5plit that was coming abdut between The Tamil
and Sinhaleseyleaders?

No. Very little. You see, in those days in the first place the
populatibn in Ceylon was very much smaller than it was and it

is now. And in the second place you've got that enormous chunk

of Jungle ...

Yes.

+eo in the middle of Ceylon which very roughly kept the Sinhalese

and the Tamil from being at each other's throats. And, of course,
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we held the balance in the - the expatriates held the balance
and the Sinhalese and the Tamil aﬁ this Lime were much mere
concerned with Jjoining tOgether to fight the hated expatriates
than they were in’hating each other. And that of course, you'll
find parallels for this all over the old Empire, all over what

is now the Commonwealth. As soon as the unifying influence of

having something to fightkfor against an outsider is over then
you get the intermal friction.

Did you read the Ceylonese-run English newspapers?

I read the English newspapers.every day in my - I had to in my
Job in the Secretariat; The Sinhalese newspapers, very rarely.
Of course ...

«s. LI could have done so, but there wasn't time.

What did you think of the newspapers? Were they ultra nationa-

listic? The Daily News in particular?

’I‘ve no idea ... I’canft~.;.

Well it's all right, if you can't remember.

I just can't remember. I remember being violently attacked by
one df them in connection with some medals in the Kandyan Art

Association.

Oh yes.

It was all great fun. I remember that. Oh’yes, I know what it

was. Somebody asked us to produce a gold medal as cheaply as

possible and so we produced a gold medal with a very thin gold
covering and a lead stuffing. ,And then somebody else got hold
of one of these and cut it open and accused the Kandyan Arts
Association'~kl wa.s secretary of 1t - Kandyan Arts Association
of selling as a gold medal sométhing that wasn't a gold medal
you see, Well, we had sold,exactly'what we had been asked for

and what had been approved by the people who ordered it. But

The Daily News — I think it must have been - The Daily News had
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a glorious attaok on the Kandyan Arts Association saying how
dishonest we were. I think it referred to me by name, probably.
And when I wrote the annual report, 1 was able td say that we'd

had a ceftain‘amount of notoriety which we hadn't sought, and

this brought,anothéf great outbﬁrstyfrom The Daily News in a very

fine style.

Weren't there many'personal attacks in the council too, on the
civil Servanﬁs?’ ’ ‘ | |

There were a good many.’ But you see, of course, in the council
at that stage you get it; bécauSe\of course yourycivil servant
and your,ministér are‘one ana the same, and the convention in
thié country whereby no ciVil'servant is ever attacked in the
House - only the Ministers are attacked — that convention can
only apply Whén‘ybu geﬁ the ministerial system‘set up. I think
it's a great pity that there were these attacks, but there they
were. I1d9n‘t;think aﬁy’of us worried about them ...

You didn't,réséht them as +..7

No5 wé1l5’Ifmean;'they'Were annoying. Sometimes of course, they
went OVef‘the'bdds’altogethér. But the sort of average attack
~ one just ...

e bedause e

if one read7it in the'paper or in the Hansard one sald "Hallo,

‘ﬂSﬁons has been at me again", and you threw it in the dip.

Yes.,

It never worried me. I mean, I was attacked very much more
than that in other places when I wenf on from Ceylon. I was
saying that in the Wesﬁ Indies I was accused of every crime

excepting incest - but that's not quite true. But they didn't

- worry me. I don't think they worried any of us.

Because the Donoughmore Commission say that the Civil Service

was a demoraligzer ...
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I don't think that's true.

Yes, i think that‘s’.., :

I don't think that's true. Or if - there’may have been certain
people who were demoralized by it, but I wouldn't say that it
was true as a whole.

But dldn t you feel that the Government could have protected you
to a greater extent?

Well, the question was how they were going to do it, you could
only do ityin three ways, I suppose. One would be to bring some
sort of aétion in the courts, if the thing was actionable, I
suppose dne could do that. Well that only drew abtbtention to it
all the more. I don't think it helped very much. Or you could
have put some penalty on the paper. And of course the freedom
of the press is one of the - almost like the doctrine of the
Trinity, isn't it? - It's absolutely sacred. Or what - I mean,
what were you going to do? What could Government do? I don't
think - it certainly mnever worried me. Mind you, you can say,
well, you can say it didn't matter in my case because I was a
Junior person in Geyloh, but it equally didn't worry me when it
happened elsewhere.

Yes, I see., Turning to the constitutional aspect ..

Yes.

This 4924'conStituti0n"was’very much like the Jamaica Constitué
tion in ‘the early 19th cenbury, and the legislatures of the
first colonial empiré - all of which came to grief.

Now the '24 one was a majority - was an unofficial majority in
council, wasﬂ*t it .7

Yes.

eoo With a Governbr with overriding powers.

Which he rarely resorted to.

..+ Practically never used. Yes. Well, I had the same thing,
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of course, in Gambia, when I was Governor of Gambia, and I had
the same thing in Mauritius. Bubt ...

But I’was wondering why they set that thing up, because past
experience should’have taught them that it was rather difficult
to work.

Well, what are you going to do? I mean, it's a question of hdw
is, how‘is the Crown Colony going to develop. You get to the
stage - you start, you see, with the Governor, almost by him-
self. 7You then have a Governor with a small council which is
chosen by himself of his own bfficials. Yoﬁ then go’én to The
stage when you've got some people nominated by the governor -
you know all these stages as well as I do. Well - what was the
other thing - I mean, is this a suggestion that there ought to
be a quicker jump to a ministerial status, or what?

Purely from the pragmatic point of view, this seemed - I mean,
seems rather on unconstitutional principles, it seems rather
obviously'unworkable.

Well, I don't know ...

That's what Clifford himself said ...

Yes.

Do jou agree with that?

I don't know whether it was unworkable in Ceylon or not. I
don't know enough aboubt Ceylon to‘say,yl‘m'afraid.’ I worked if
without any greaﬁ difficulty in other places.

On, I see. .

There are various wéys of doing it, and oﬁe can do it. What
made it unworkable in Ceylon I wouldn't know, I think’probably
possibly the slump of 1923-24, there was a’slump somewhere in
the middle 20s - when money was very short and problems arose
over that. How far Tamil Sinhalese difficulties worked into

it, I don't know, I just don't know. I think this is a thing
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that I'm not competent to talk about.

Would it be correct to say that after this, after 1924 the

centre of gravity shifted frbm the executive council to the
Finance Committee of the Legislative [Council] ...?

A good deal of - to a very large extent I think it did. I

think that the’Finance Committee was magnified in a way that

it shouldn't have been.

And would you saj - this again, has been put forwardly someone

—~ that the Governor rarely defied this Committee though he had
the constitutibnal power to do so?

Very rarely I think. You see, if the - although the local Gover-
nor has got overriding powers, obviously he doesn't want to use
them if it can be avoided for a great number of reasons, but the
most important one is that if you start using them there's no
end to it. And'in thé second place, if you start using them
you are taking theyresponsibility that the people of the country
ought to be taking.

It was considered policy then?

1t was considered most undesirable to use the paramount powers
unless they could - unless there was [no alternative??]. I

used - as a Governor I used them twice, over a number of years.
Once was to sort out the mess that the Council got itself into
and they asked me to do it; |
Mmm., Apartyfrom a desire to prevent the constitution from being
brought to a standstill, was there a - in Ceylon was there a
desire to placate théjpoliticians and to prevent them from
adopting Indian,extremes;

Again, I simply don't think I can answer that, because it was -
as L say, I was a very junior persdn. I wasn't a member of the
Executive‘Cogncii or anything of that sort. I wasn't in the

inner workings of Government at all. People like Freddy Bowes
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of course;landkSOme of them were, I wasn't.
Would’you Say that, for instance,‘the turn of events in India
was kept in’mind constantly?

No, not - certainly not in my mind.

You didnft have occasion to discuss it socially ...?

No.

...rmmddmmw?“.? |

No, no,,somebne may have mentioned it, but it wasn't the sort
of overriding influence.

It didn't déminate cee?

In the circles in which I was moving, certainly not, how far
it was ... |

It's imﬁortant because, I think if it was not - [if] you didn't i
discuss'it’in the Secretariat cos

No.

It was ...

No, no, it was never discussed in the Secretariat, that I recol-
lect. We were too busyfgétting’on with Ceylon.

India is so closé and it had, you know, it has implications.

of course, India really became really, really, really difficult

in the %0s, wasn't it?

Yes.

You see.

But the mass movement was beginning and e

Yes, was beginning, but it Was'only‘beginning; and again, just

as with Ceylon, the idea,of'sdvereignty was there, but it was

not in the immediately foreseeable future. And so it was, L

think, with India until the thirties. But I spesk subject to
correction because I'vefnever‘served in India,
Would you agree with Clifford's view thatithe constitution was

unworkable, or with Stanley's view? He said that in the past,
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co—-operation had outweighed opposition, in the 1924 constitu=-
tion. : : , . ’ _
Well, I éimply don't,remember. Now, let's get these dates right;
I was on leave from ’24’—,'25}, '24 T was in the Secretariat.

26 = 29, i’was in Badulla,"28 I was in Trinoo,

The same Gonstitﬁtions'for that period, '24 onwards cos

Now, Iﬁdon‘t remember any partioular difficulties in working

them, but of course, I wasn't working ... [in the centrel. I

was out in the country. You want somebody who spent those years
in the,Secretariaf; really, for that. ®Bort of thing that Mark
Young can’do. ' | |
Yes;'I think I'll_ask him that. Do you think that civil servants
went too far in their political attacks, especially, say, in
trjing to force Ceylonisation - did they go very far?

Do I'think,thaf the civil servants ...?

The politicians.

The politicians went too far?

In their attacks onygovernment’and on the civil servants.

Yes, I think so. I think it's a pity. I think that of course
the - it's very éasy to gain popularity by making fiery speeches.
It's very éasy to get - to sell your ﬁewspaper by attacking
Government. Oh, it's done in this country. I think it's a pity,
but I don't think ... |
Was theré a - I suspect -~ well, was there any question of an
inferiority complex which brought‘ébout a certain degree of aggres.
siveness? This is ...

Inferiority complex on the part of the civil servants, or what?
No, the politicians.

Politicians.

Ceyloﬁese,politicians.

Well, the politician's always on the make whether he's a politi-
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cian in EnglandVOr a politician in Ceylon. And I suppose there
was The irritation of seeing ybur country run by people whose
way of life was quite different’from’yours. I think that's a
very reasonable irritation. I don't blame anybody for being
irritated over that. The trouble arises when the irritation is
taken t@ aystage when it hinders the Govenﬁment and makes the
Govermnment more inefficient than it otherwise would be. That

is the danger{

In Bowesrsometimes I see a tendency to expect civilians who had
comeHout to England and received a University education, and so
on and so forth, to show their gratitude. He uses the word in
fact - "to show their gratitude"” by working smoothly with Govern-
ment. Would you say that - I mean - what would you say about
this sort of view?

Well T wouldn't - I never expect anybody to be grateful. I
learnt that’bitter lesson long ago. I don't think it's a good
view, I, it's ...

1t is after all the very essence of a liberal education.

Setting about it the wrong way. It's the wrong angle on the
whole thing. If a man has been over here and sees how things
are run in thls country, and so on, when he goes back to Ceylon
or anywhere else, he ought to be able to see that the people

who are running it there - I'm talking now of Crown Colony dayé
- are trying to run it along principles and so on which are the
principles of this country, and to that extent one would expect
him to have a certain sympathy — if you like to use the word
sympathy - or a certain apprediation of what Govermment's trying
to do. But to suggest that because someéne has come over here
that they therefore must take goVernment side, I mean, it's
nonsense.

Yes, it seemed rather an extreme point of view.
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Oh, I think it's a ridiculous point of view.

- And well, the Donoughmore commission was in Ceylon in your time;
The’Donoughmore Commission'ha& come, yes, and the report was
just out whea I left. I remember dining ﬁith Fletcher, Sir
Murchiston Fleucher, who was the Colonial Secretary, either

the nlght, or two nlghus, before I left Ceylon, and the report
had Just come out then. And one was sort of busy trying to find
time to read it. But I wasn't there long enough to know anythiﬁg
about the reactions ...

No, er well, were individual civil servants consulted by the
Commission?

I wbuld have said they were, but I just don't remember. When it

came ~ 1t came out in '287

'28 I think.
' 28.
Late '28.

Well, late '28. Wéll I don't remember whether they came %o
Trinco'or not. T imagine if they'd comnsulted anybody it would
be G.A. of Eastern.?rov1nce who would be in Bathcaloa.

’Yes. '

evs I wouldn t swear to it, but I don't remember talking to amy
of them. Now, after all they'd do most of thelr discussion
in Colombo, wouldn't they?

WOuld you say that the common OfflClal approach to their recom-
mendatlons’was to view them“as a madness? The official approach
in Ceyloh.  ’

You mean the Govefnment,approach?

Well, the individuel officer ...

The individusl civil servant?

Yes. OF course, you weren't out there ...

2 don't think so, because I don't think an opinion had time to
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form before I left, you see., I know Sir Murchiston Fletcher

was very agitated, of course, at a cerbain amount of what the
Donoughmore Report had to say about him.

Oh, I see. '

But that was Q reference to Sir Murchiston himself. But I don't
think that there had been time for the Civil Service as a body,
or anything bf that sort, to form a very definite opinion on

it. Up To the time I left.

What is your personsl view of their suggestions ...?

Well, I think it was a very bold attempt to try to get away from
this,problem of the Westminster model. Now this has been argued

about as you know day in, day oub, month in, month out, and we're

always blamed, the people of this country, and all the civil

servants, who've gone abroad, we're always blamed of trying to
impose on a tropical country, a system of government which is
admirsble in England, or more or less admirable, but not so

successful elsewhere. Well now, there are various things about

~ that. And first of all, we didn't always try to do it, we tried

thé Donoughmore Report instead, the the Donoughmore scheme and
That was found to be most unsatisfactory by the people it was
intended to de#elop. On the other hand, what is happening in
most cases is that people have asked for the Westminster model.
In fact; I know of an interesting case that was so, that had a

look at three other things and then decided to go for the West-

minster model, and then went for it so whole-~heartedly that they ,

copied the embroidery on the Speaker's gown, to make quite

certain theyﬂhad'it exactly. Well, I think it was a very fine
attempt to try to fin& - to try to get out of the rut, to try
to find some other method. Whether it could have worked if it

had been introduced years earlier, whether it could have worked,

I don‘t,know;, But there had grown up this sort of mystigue of
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the Court with;the’Governor as‘the Sovereign, and the sort of
people who like being seen about at Court and so on and all the
rest of'itQ This soft of mystique had grown up, and when any-
ﬁhing else which was not quité so — hadn't got this mystique
attached to it, it was considered to be inferior. And of
course, there was always the argument that was brought about
vou know when we did try to do this sort of thing - the West-
minster model is what we want, you're trying to fob us off with
something Chat!smotido good.,

Yes, I see. It's become a sort of talisman.

It has been really, yes. It's all right in Ceylon, because
Ceylon's big enough, but it's absolute nonsense to have the West-
minster model in places like the size of some of these small
places - like Gambia, but don't say I said so. Because I'm an
ex-Governor of Gambia.

Don't you think the Donoughmore Constitution was as good a half-
way house as could be devised?

I think it probably was. I never discovered, I1've never known
because 1 was busy doing my other thihgs, I've never known why
you pedple did dislike it so much. You tell me that.

Weli oo | H

I'd be Vej:*y"int'ereste’d to hear.

From the practical point of view the Executive Council, the
Committee System ...

Yes v.. .

«e. Was fOﬁnd'é there was a lack of co-ordination.

Mmm. |

And they worked in~compartments, you see. And, that was one of
the reasons, and well, I think they - I think it rather hindered
the growth of a party system, and I Think people would seem to
think that was a good point, though I don't quite agree.
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But I Suppbsé the lack of co-ordination could‘have been put
righﬁfihSide thé conSﬁitution, couldn't it?

Tt would have been rather difficult because there was no col-
lective responsibility in administering.

No. Well, oneywonders whether with some means of working it
couldn't have’been put fight Anyway, I don't know.’ I have
always wondered why it was so unpopular.

Would you have found it rather difficult to adept yoursélf to

Ministerial rule with Sinhalese Ministers over you, if you had

been there?

1 don't think so. ”I don't see why - I mean - granted that

Minister was at all a reasonsble personm. I tell you, I was
téught my job by a Ceylonese office-assistant. I don't think
I would have done. I bthink I'd have been terribly interested
in it. Tried to ...

1t was a very 1n£erestlng experiment,

e trled to use the knowledge that I had to help the Mlnlster,

if 1'd been hiskpermanent Secretary or something of that sort,

I think I would have been awfully interested.

WOuld you say that it was ...?

I've never had a pa881on for power. I've had a lot of power,
I've had to use power but it's never been a thing that I

1ooked for. | ;

Would you say thatnit was Sir Drummond Shiels who was responsible
for the more ra&ical,aspects?

Of the~DOnoughmore,Reporf?

Yes.  The‘more radigal sev ;

I just don't know."x don't know. I did know him, but I just
don't know. .

Again, a rather’hyPCthetioal question: do you think a Conserva—

tive Ministry in England would have treated the Donoughmore
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Report - well, given it colder and less sympathetic treabment?
I'd forgotten it was a Labour Government that was in ...

Sir Sidney Webb was Secretary and Sir Drummond Shiels was
Parliamentary Under Secretary .

He was Parliamentary Under Secretary. But were they there when
it was actually brought into force?

Well, fhey had to - when it came out, I think they approved it...
1 should very,muCh doubt it. After all, Colonial Politics,

using tUhe phrase for convenience, Colonial Politics are very
much non-party affairs in this country.

Yes, that's true.

And what - and particularly if you've got a very high-powered
Commission like that — after all it was a vefy high-powered
Commission indeed - I think it's very unlikely that any other
party Wouldn"b have done the same about :J.t But as you say,

it's very hypothetical, that one.

Yes, it is. I would like to switch to a different sphere,
agriculture and land. And - did your Secretariat experience weli
- teaohiju sdmething about Govermment land policy?

I think the overriding consideration as regards land in the
Secretariat;“apart from ownership questions and things of that
sort — I think the overriding consideration was the fodd problemn.
You see there was an acute shorbtage of rice in twenty-something,
and then Sir Edward Denham was made some sort of an overlord to
try to increase rice production and the greater use of land, and
I think that aﬁy,real thought about land — I'm draWing on a
memory which is a bit faint - Iywould have thought that any real
thought about laﬁ&'at that'time was much more concerned with
increasing food production - making Ceylon more indépendent of
India or whatever it might be Q Burma - for’rice than anything

else. On the more techni¢al side, with regard to land ownership
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and all that sort of thing there was that remarkable Land
Settlement Department.

Yes. ‘ ’

Which did the most superb work, I Think.

Yes. '

And then there was our District Judge's Court which did the
partition stuff. Was that what you had in mind, or am I really
.

Yes. That's what I wanted to know. As one aspect of it - do
you know What the official policy was to the qaestion of Sinha-
lese working on the plantations? I mean, did they prefer thenm
to be a resident labour force, or would they have preferred them
6 be a part-time force?

But surely, the people who worked on the tea ...

They were Tamils.

oas they wefe’Tamils, weren't they?

Yes. No, I was wondering - when there was a shortage sometimes
the planters - well certainly before your period - gometimes
wanted to organiéeySinhalese'labour. This is more or less a
hypbthetical QueStion, because Sinhalese did not work ... Butb
I would like to kndw,~ well say, what your personsl atbtitude
would be if you found that many Sinhalese were going into the
plantations and divorcing themselves from the soil. You see,:

leaving their,plots or — and becoming resident ...

- Being paid labour on a tea estate, you mean?

Yes. ,

I should have disliked it, I think. As you say, it is very
hy?othétical. I was concerned with an attem@t - going back to
the’use of land - I was concerned with an aﬁﬁempt which I think
the Plantefs'”ASsoCiatiQn,was,largely concerned with, to make =

neW'settlement - a new village - down in the Tamankaduwa part
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of the world, Or somewhere down that way, I remember; looking'

- at the site and so on. And this was a very definite attempt on

the part df the Government to open up new land in rice - in food
food cropé. And the - I should have thought that - I don't
remember formulé%ing this definitely for myself - but I should
have,thought £ha£ their idea was that the Sinhalese villagers

- Sinhélese‘villager should have his own land and develop his

- cultiVate his own land and increase the food crops available
in the country, leaving Tamil labour for use on the tea estates.
On the tea estates.

But, as:I say, I don't think I ever formulated this in my mind
at the time. |

Whaﬁ were the’objectives of’British land policy? Sale of land
to planters and,capitalists, of whatever nationality; or (b)
conservation of a native péasantry?

Well, once again, I'm not sure whether I ever saw - or if I did
I've forgotten now what fhis Statement of policy was. I should
imagine it‘was two-fold. Againion the one hand the fact - one
wanted food crbps grown for subsistence purposes, on the other
hand the wealth of Ceylon at that time came almost entirely from
tea and rubber and Coconuts, for which you wanted paid labour.
And you had'to meke the best of a balance between the two.
Balance, yes ...

But again, I don't remember formulating this at the time. This
is hindsight on the matter.

Was Governmént policy that of trying to place the capitalists
"near enough to the native to influence him but not so near as té
dispossess him"? |

I wouldn't know what the policy was in practice.

Would you have tended to favour such a policy personally?

:]
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as to dlspossess hlm " of the land.

,could really 1nfluence a native by putting a capitalist near

1nfluence the nonrcapltallst?

"Well, in certain areas there was this question of peasants

'j To the estatesv‘

”dubiousftlt-e'- some of which they needed for their village.

' people”bn,the land there and not on the coco estates.

= e

"Near enough to the natlve to 1nfluence hlm, but not so near

Certalnly not so near as to dlsposses him ...

Yes.

That‘s the last thlng 1 should have wanted to do. Whether you
hlm'-'that I don t know. Does a capltallst in this countbtry
I mean*influence him by giving him opportunities for part-time

lebour.

That's all fringe sbuff, isn't it?

selling their lands ...

Yes. Selllng crown land - hlgh lands - which they had on

Sellingf 0 ~fwell not necessarily to European planters only.

In the lowlands 1t was to Slnhalepe coconut and rubber planters
- sometlmes to the detrlment of the v1llage.

Yes. Well, I’Qan only tell you this - from the point of view
of myben’feélings’in'the matter that when I eventually went to

Granada;;I was a very strong supporter there of local land

settlément schemes. And we did settle a very large number'of

Do ydu'know 1f the Land Settlement Department, as a matter of
policy,aﬂdfin the course of their day-to-day work, whether the
L.S.O's;tried to’deter this sort of sale by the peasants?

I should haﬁe;thought they did, but I can't tell you from my own
k:nowledge. I know that the peasant had no greater friend than
the land settlement officer and nobody had a greater knowledge
of the'peasant than the land settlement officer - they had the
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- most remarkable knowledge of them. And I am sure that their

sympathies wduld all be with the peasant, or with the peasaﬁt
holdingfhis'own p1ot of land.

What Were the'réél,tasks of'the landfsettlement department?
The start of it?

What were the tasks°,

Oh., The tasks, as far as 1 recollect were to - on the basms

of a survey whlch.went on at ﬁhe same time over the whole of the

island, was to establish whether the people who were occupying

certain areas of land dd in fact own them with a clear title,
and giving them a L titlé if they did in fact so own them.
or, if there waSn't'a clear title, then on various bases of
calculatLOﬂ which they were able to make, making that land .
avallable to these people w1th clear title for a relatively small°
paymenﬁ, Plusd,offcourse, the reservation of areas of forest
Which ... | _

They»had"%he,powef both on paper and in practise to decide well,
that cérﬁain,land was crown and also to delimit certain land for
the village. And, could they delimit land for individuals?

They could ' They could say that - Appuhamy, who lives on that
area, has llved on that area for so long that he has a clear
title to it, or that Appuhamy has a pretty good title to that
area, itfs not quité~good,enough, on thefpayment 5% X rupées_
perjacre, wefwill give him a title.

Yes. That is theyiﬁpressibﬁ I got. You see, there is a thesis
on this in Gambridgé5'and he has used the diaries, which is
first hand., Butialso~speaking to my father - of course he was
not in this Deparfment - but he gave me a contrary impression.
Oh did he. Well, I wouldn't like to set up as an authority

in Land Settlement. '

No, but you were in the Secretariat and ...
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of course, the people who knew thls were Wedderburn, and Wait and
people are dead now. They would be experts on it.
I'hope to meet Mr. Basset and Mr. Sandys.

Well,‘they~would know a great deal more about it than I do,

because I”ve neVer'WOrked in the Department. The Land Setitle-
ment Departmenb were certalnly not there to grab land back for
the Grown, buﬁ of course, in Ceylon it was Crown land anyway ,

unless youfcould,proveylt against the Crown.

Tes, well, 1 think for the nineteenth century especially that

was*rather'a stiff tést, because they had no ...

No, well‘ﬁhaﬁywas7the'point of the Department, to do the

enquiries for them, and sort it out.

Do you thlnk that, apart from deterring the - did they con-

sclously Set out to deter'speculators and land brokers. If say,

and 1 kngw'thiS"happened, a‘planter had bought land from a

peasantyon dubious ﬁitle,’ﬁo,the detriment of the village, did

they'depriVe thé}plaﬂter of’a;portion of this land?

There,3I canfﬁ tell you because I don't know. There I would

imagine that they would, but I Conb oL
No, I would Just llke your oplnlon that though I know you put
11t as a feellng, you' re not certaln, but that'swhat I want to ves

'That s what I Would 1mag1ne. The Land Settlement Department was

there prlmarlly to protect Appuhamy and his plot, and glve hlm
a clear,tltle,to it by one means or another if it was at all
possible; |

Yes. Would yOu,Say that the Céylbnese land speculators, and

buyers, and the like, and the capitalists, planters, were rather

'unscrupulous,in the way they purchaéed land?

I don't remember anything particularly connected with the pur-
chase”offland,for estate purposes, for tea estate purposes and

so on., I don't think it ever..;."You see in the North Centra17~'
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Province, this didn't arise. When I was in Trinco it didn't
arise. So that I was never an administrative officer in an

area Where,-:I was a judge, bubt never an administrative officer

- in an area where it arose, and so I just don't know.

T was aware of that, but I was wondering whether ...
I just don't know.

ses your Secretariat work had brought ...

No, no. Secretariat work - this hardly ever came‘my way in the

Secretariat at all.
On, I see.

If, indeed, it came there at all. After all, there were rules

laidfdowh; very definite rules, gbout the acguisition of land
by esﬁaﬁes ~ what those rules were I don't remember now - but
they were laid down, and I've no doubt they were adhered to

in,lénd purchase.

Do you personally know or suspect ...?

Mark you, 1've bought land, not for me,but for town purposes.

I remember buying land for the main road in Trincomalee in the

days when ﬁhat was being done, and I discovered a great dodge
about that, and that was that you offered cash, of course, and

you used to have a nice packet of [notes]. I remember Sir John

'Fraser saying to me "Look, when you have to buy land for the

Governménﬁ; remember my old tip. Have a bag of rupees, and just
chink it as you are making the offer." Of'course, silver rupees

had gone out by my time. It was all paper, and my trick used

 tofbe'to take out the bundles of treasury notes, nice new

treasury notes, and let Tthem slip through my fingers while I

‘argued with the man, and tried to get the land for the Govern—

ment as cheaply as I reasonably could so that I could ...
Psychological.

Psychological.
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Do you‘thimk or do you suspect that some of the politicians who

are leadlng this,attaCK on the Land Settlement Department and

on. Governmert‘regarding land policy are also inbterested in land

buying themsel?es?~'
I'think'yoquéfgot,me very much out of my depth now, because a)
i had“very 1ittle first-hand experience of this and b) I wouldn't

like to txust”my memory back_on ite All I could give you would

be simpljfimpressions, and as I say, I think that the Land

Settlement's main job, and I know it from the men I worked

VWith and knew, and other ways, that their heart was with the

peasant, and not with the estate.

Er -wsir'Maxwell Wedderburn was in the Department.

He was, and there was Wait, of course.
They were capablé men, were they?

Both very fine people, who knew, really knew, Ceylon. I reckon

the Land Settlement people knew Ceylon better than any other
Engllshman out %here, and of course they talked the 1anguage
w1th absolute fluency. |

Dldn't_they have to‘take interpreters with them; I mean, did

they take'interpreters with them?

Oh, 1 suppose thelr chlef clerks and people could interpret if

requ1red but they were working on their own, and conducted all

. thelr‘affalrs‘on thelr,own, Jjust as Kenneth Hunter Campbell, WhQ

waS”the man;Who raﬁffhe'Co—operative"Societies, he always took
hié‘mée%ingé2in eithéffSinhalese or Tamil and had no interpreter
atail, '

Do you know anythlng about the policy towards the Co-operative
Socmetles?

Yes, I~wasfthere when - it was really Stockdale you know, Sir
Frank Stockdale,’who was the leading light in developing that -

When was it begun? Before your time?
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It was beguanefore my time, bﬂt'it:waé very'much in “ts 1nfancy,‘

and grew very much durlng ny. tlme, and then they set up the'~j,"/

at one time the Record Clerk (9) was also the Reglstrar of

Co-operatlve Soolety, and they then set up a separate Co-
operablves departmemt, somewhere about the mlddlek'20s, I thlnk
and Kenneth Hunter Campbell was the Reglstrar, and his assistant
was Maybln, afterwards Sir John Maybin in ngerla, and when

Campbell came to Trlnco to look at the Co-operatlve Societies

there, when 1 was,A,G.A., I said to him "Look, can I come to
one of your:meetings?" And he said "Yes, come with pleasure.”
I went with him to a whole meeting and listened to it, and he
took the whole thingféntirely in Tamil. Beginning to end. Again,
there was somebody who could have interpréted if wahted, but he
was talking in Tomil and did not ...

What were the basmc aims?

At that tlme, I thlnk the ba81c aims were very largely Co-
operative Credmt Socletles for money, for assistance ...
Agricultural credlt?

Agricultﬁral'credit. Then of course it began to develop outb
into all sorts of fhings, and you had a Co-operative midWife,
and a Co—operative‘this, that and the other,;but it began on
agricultural credit.

What would,you‘say were the obstacles? |

Lack of trust in a village between one person and another, a
new thingywhich had never been done before, and probably funds
to help finaﬁce it.

What sort of success did it have?

Great success. It's an interesting thing that the Asiatic is
a good co—operative man,., J1've noticed it in other countries
where théy have had both Asiatic and Negro, and the Asiatic

Societies are always a success, and the Negro ...
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Onh well the Indians..}.‘ But, of course, maybe yoﬁ are generali-
Sing from your éxperience'with,Indians in the West Indies. ’

I am thinking of Indians in the West iﬂdies,?and aléo in
Mauritius.

Tndisns seem to be paftibularly good at that sort of thing ...
They afe. ’ '

s Chétty‘bldod in them.

I don't know what it is, but they're very good'at it. But you
Sinhalese weren't too bad at it yourselves. | '
Did they try to improve merketing facilities, t00?

There was a certain amount ofythat,,but that I saw a great deal
more’of in other places latér Oon. ;

Do'you think more could haVe beén done on these lines?

Well, I think it was a ﬁhing that had'to grow, you see. I've
forgotten, was it the;Chinesé’who started it? I've forgotten
who firstfstarted Qoébpeﬁative Societies. Some very odd race.
I dcntﬁ;rémember. Anyway, it was a new thing, and it had to be
developed; and,people had to!get accustomed to it to work it,
and of course‘again it was a question of money. There were

only a certain number of people,fan&,it was a very skilled job,

being a Registrar‘ There were only afcertain number’of~people.
avaiiéble'fér it and{you:had'to make‘do:with'wha% you'dﬁgof.
,It’s anulljkimporfanf, I think, to keep before you this point
thaﬁ Celen was not in those days the rich country that it has
beenyin‘the past. I won't say that it is at the moment, but
that it has been. ’ | |

Regarding land, do you think a more liberalised land sales
policy would have helped the peasant?

Iiberalised in what way? DONYOu meen letting them have the

- land cheaper, or what?

Yes, cheaper, and - er - well, obviously, it would mean some sort
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of discfimination in favour of the peasant. Was there instal-
ment paying?

I thought there were payments by instalments, but again I>just
wouidn't remember., You see, I didn't work in the Land Séttle-
ment Department myself, and the,Secretariat wasn't all that
centralised. ’You let the Land Settlement Department get on
with.its job in acoordance with its own rules.

Branching into another line, wouldn't you say that the laws
where~land Sales:regulations, and other administrative regula-
tions,,and e$pecially the judicial procedure and so on and so

fOrth,,were far'too,sophisticated for the,peasantry?‘

You're thinkingrnOW‘of partition of land? Cases I used to hear

in the District Court and that sort of thing?

Tes, that sort of S

Well, I Sﬁppéseifhey could have béen made simpler, but you've
got To remembeffthat you had all through Ceylon very efficient

colleCtion'offlawyers, members of the‘Bar, in all the various

'headquartersgyand cases of that sort were nearly always argued

by lawyers”before'ycu; so that they were being argued by people

who were thamSelves sophisticated. Whetﬁer you should have cut

all that,cut, and not had them dealt with at the Courts at all

is another matter.

' Yes.',What woﬁldfybu say about that sort of viewpoint, that you

shouldn'tfhave had the lawyers? Where it was such an expense

for the Peasant, and they ...
There again,jit‘s,a question of what we found, what we met, and

I suppose we accepted it, you see, because there it was when we

got to it; fThere;were these local Bars; some were very gobd.
Golombo Bar,‘of"odurse, was a superb Bar, and we accepted that

as being the case. Now you would never have been able to cut

the lawyers out of that ...
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No, not in the towns, but I was thinking, especially in Anurad-

hapura andysume‘of that area whéther, in your opinion, it would

have been better to have simpler and more SUMMaTY oo

It might,have been,Qriginally'if‘it could'havé been brought in
originally, bu-bwe' had 'res‘,ohed the stagé, 1 ’would say, by the
time I went down there in '20 where you couldn't have turned
it back. There would have been a frlghtful howl 1f Government
was going back on an establlshed arrangement

How usefulawere the Gansabhas;as,gudlclal trlbunals? ﬁThey

were used SOmetimes s

 'we11 - lﬂ ﬁhe North Central Prov1nce which is the only one I

f'know of at flrst hand they were nearly almost entirely con-

cerned w;thflrrlgatlon.

Oh, I see. There was no judicial work there?
Well, there was judicial work if a fellow didn't obey the village

rules about irrigatxon,fyou see. They settled the date on which

the fields were to be flooded; they settled the date on which
~ the flood was to be turned off; they settled the date on which

buffaloes were to go in; they settled the date when the
squeegee things were to go in; they settled the date when the

rice,was to Dbe planted; they settled the date when the waber
was to be turned on to the rice that had been planted. The

GansabhawaS'were concerned with the sanctions to be applied if

those rules were not carried out. I'm talking of the N.C.P,

only, because it's the only one I know of first-hand. That
they did very well. | |

That was Freemanfs area, wasn't it. What sort of man was he?

Oh, a most remarkable person. Now if anybody had the welfare

of Appuhamy at heart, it was Freeman. He was the most un-
practical person in certain ways. As he got older, he got more

and more unpractical, but he had been a very great man in his
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day, and he was dearly loved, of course, by the peasants.

Your point about’bis being unpractical is important, because
Bowes, quite incidentally, this is related - talking sbout the
young Freeman,in,the 1900s - calls him nalve and guileless.
Really? Yes, he was a delightful person.

I was Wondering:whether his vefy guilelessness helped~to get

him elecféd?f

Well, it may have been, I wouldn't know about that one. I wasn't
in on’his electoral campaign.

Well, it's a very unusual thing for a G.A. ...

You.getfit,'eVery now and then, you get somebody ... I suppose

he was able to think in the right way, and he had this great
facility,,of course, for language, and he loved you dearly, and .
you loved him. The only place where I haVe been able to estab- |
1i$h~that sort of rélationship was with my West Indians, whom

T loved, and I think they loved me.

Qh, Ll see. Well, I'm glad you enjoyed it out there ...

INTERRUPTION.

B.

We really loved them, and Were fond of them. I know I was, of
my people'in’Trinco; Very, very fond of them, and anything that
one could’do'for'them in the way of trying to improve their lot,
énd helping them; I was only too delighted to do. We may have
taken a narrowfview of what should be done, I wouldn't deny |
that for a moment, but it wasn't done because it was a job, it
waé our job, but it was done because it was a Jjob that we loved
doing. The District Officer's job was the most interesting in
the World;, ; |

Didn't you find it rather Aifficult to estsblish a rapport with
the villager?uy | |

1 found it difficult in Trinco, because of my very poor knowledge

of Tamilf Tr T'd gdﬁe back as G.A. in North Central Province,
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or as A.G.A, in one of the Kandyan provinces, I probably wouldn't‘
have found it so difficult. But Trinco was the first Tamil
place I had evér’been in, and I was Very largely there§ depen~
denﬁ on an ihferpretér. ’I did know a certain amount of Tamil,
but if I was going to do any negOtiations; or arguments, or that
sort of thing; it had to be done through an interpretér, and
that of ccurSe does create a barrier right away; you éan't help
it. DBut there it is. I didn't choose to go to Trinco, I was
sent to Trinco. I wouldn't have dhoéen a Tamll area if I had
haﬁwmy’choice.' On the other hamnd, I loved Trinco. It was a
delightful'placé,‘and of course we had all the fun of haVing’the
Navy iﬁ, which was great fun from the District Officer's point
of view, also. | ' .

In 4940, in these reforms, in this constitutional question,
Clifford and MacCullum argued that the G.A., the A.G.A., and the
headman,‘représented the people better than this new middle
cléss. Wbuld,you]comment on this? |

What yearywas this?‘ |

In 1910.

Ten years before me.

What would you say about your time? Did you represent the

peo@le better?

Well, of course, there were vast areas in Ceylon where there
wasn‘t very much in the way of a middle class. Take Trinco.
Mlddle class, 1£ any, were your merchants, who were - what was
the name of the blg wrocer, L ve forgotten, in Trinco - he
oertalnly wasn't, I doubt whether he was a Sinhalese at all,
I'mean;‘somebOdy'fr5m ouﬁside;‘and I think that probably at
that stage we made a very good shot at representing them. I
wouldn t Say we did it better but «ea

No, but he~used the general argument against giving more power




‘toythem,'to°ﬁhein~ebuntry, in, effect"to the middle class, but

the p01nt 15 there seems to be some sort of contradlctlon,

;ibecause the eduoatlonal pollcy was allve to developlng this

éllbe, you see, to brlnglng forth a certaln . people with

,some llberal educatlon,,ard when they had reached the stage

of belng mldqle class, educated mlddle class, they were denled
the rloht to*represent thelr people, and also,'constltutlonally,

when you 1ook at 1t the Magna Garta was a selflsh baronlal |

,document.

Entmrely., All thls cqat about the ba81s of British freedom,

. of Engllsh freedom, well Magna Carta was aust a few people at
‘the top, nothlng else.~ . " ‘ f ; ’
';And so looklng at 1t from that p01nt of v1ew, vou feel that

MacCallum s argumenlee 1nva11d?'

I think 1t probably 15 1nvalld, prdbably 15.

‘,,Certalnly I wouldn't have llked to see an ollgarchy created -

‘ you Know, glven them complete power - but proportlonate to

'the extenﬁ they represented uhe people or represented the asplrare

tlons of the p‘, le3 they could have been given more power.
1 thlnk probably.f We were slow on all that I mean, there S no

questlon about 1t and looklng back on 1% now, we were very slow.

, But you ve got to relate that to the way in which people were,'

thlnklng 1n thls country. That S no excuse but thau is the,
Teason., You couldn t expect your people out there to be very
far ahead I thlnk, of what public opinion in this oountry was

thlnklﬂg and feellng, and as I said to you earlier on, at that

time very much the vxew here was that you were, eventually, to

turn the country lntO'somethlng which resembled England; whioh
was all Wrong.f~Ikmean,‘we~can see it now. It's quite easy now,
1ook1ﬂg back to see that that was the wrong idea.

Itewas,st;ll soeln the;4920s, was it, still ...?
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I think so, still then. I think we were just beginning to

change our minds. We were just beginning to
thing else ...
The Greater Britain concept?

Yes, but it takes a long time....

see there was some-



Sir Hllary Blood's Answers to Questions forwarded by M. W, Roberts;%
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29’ﬁecemb@r 1965

Extract from a 1etter f%om Sir hllary lood — M.W. Roberts

N T

,Ybu,must remember,that T dlets Oeylan.more than 30 years
ago and that I was there, for 10 years only, as a very young

man Who, by upbrmnglng, ten@ed to0 accept condltlons, and to try
to lmprove them rather than to questlon their basis and radicelly
to change them.

1. 7You have méntioned (Sir) E.B. Denham's scheme for increased
» foa& productlon - could you elaborate on what the scheme was.

5. With whet success wa.s tbe scheme carried out?

3. 1 have a feellng Ehat this scheme was raised with an air of
orlglnallﬁy &nﬁ much fanfare whereas, in fact, 1t was a
resu801tatlon of an old and rether obv1ous idea - and more
31gn1flcanﬁly, B resus01tatlon coloured by great sanguineness.

_Would you comment on this? -

4. What sort of man was ﬁenham”

Answer.V ,
Tenhem was o man of fertile Imaglnatwon and great energy.
'He llked the limelight and ceught it. He was therefore an
_ideal person o organlze & scheme which called for public
' su@port and requlred for 1tssuccessful operation the :
, oreatlon of favourable publlc opinion.
I @o not now remember details of the schene except
that 1t 1nvolved brlnglng new areas under paddi cultivation,
' anQ the maln alm was to be lm&ependent of imported rice.
No doubt thls was not a new idea tut in 1920 it was much in
‘pecple s mlnds beoause of a shortage of rice.

5. You have also m@ntioned an attemptVtO form a rice-cultivating
settlement by planters (?¢) in Badulla, When you were there.
Could you prov1de more 1nformat10n as to aims and extent of
_success. Tere Jovernment 1nvolved¢ Who were the planters°
Were the settlers to be Sinhalese or Ta;m:x,la—fP

Answer: |
The scheme I referred to was fathered by the Ceylon Planters

Assn. and involved opening new lands and creating a new

* ,ThlS is a retyped version. 1t was originally typed in elite
and copies in London and Oxford are in that form.
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village in the Tamenkadua part of the world in the N.C.P,
The'setﬁlérs were to be'SinhalGSe and I think the scheme
Was o be flnanced by the T 1 [Planters Association].

The G. A., N.C. P [North—@entral Prov1nce] wag concerned

with runnln@ the scheme aQV1sed of course by the Irrigation,
‘Forest and other dep%rtments.

Could YOu”provide your 0wn'appfais%1'of men'ljké'Sir'ﬁ. Fletchex
(Slr) ., Bouthorn, (Slr) . W. Wedderburn and Sir F. Tyrrell.
1 anm partlculerly 1nterested ln flnﬁlnw out whether Sir F.

; Wedderburn posqessed or lacked gualities
7hem to a&apﬁ themselves (admittedly a

' dlfflcult tr sztlon) to the Eonouﬁhmore Constitution. This
_is of some_hlstcrlcal relevaace.,;

Did Slr M;‘Fletcher allow polltlevans to come over the heads

of the G. Afs, etc.,and make complQ1nts?' Did he, in your

,oplnlon, make no attampt or & very weak attempt to protect
fGlVll Servants¢ .

Answer‘
Southornq Wedderburn and Wyrrell were Ceylon Civil Servants:

| ngll had the greatest affection for the country and its
"_people.h Wedderburn, because of his Land Settlement

 echr1ence, had probably the most intimate knowledge of
fthe vzllager.; i do not remember any European officer whose
'knawledwe approached that of Wedderburn. Also he spoke

j'the nost fluent Sinhalese. Tyrrell and Southorn were
gbrlmarllv a@mmnlutrwtors. both were fully cepable of working
'the;Bonoughmore Constitution. Whether they believed it was
the appropriate set up for Ceylonii do not know. I left
Ceylcn just as the Donoughmore Report came out.

Fletchev came 1o Ceylon from H.[Hong] Kong where he
had ‘been for all his offlclal life. I think he found the
adgustment to Ceylon conditions somewhat difficult. I
think on the whole he tended to take the politicians' views

"rather Than the civil servants' views as the ideas by which
he shoula be guided. He was certainly unpopular with the
:@1V11 Servlce. He was exceedingly able — posgsibly he had
more brains than balance. |

Reg ardlng your point that the empirical appromcb is the best

';approach I would not guarrel, but (2) in the judicial sphere

éldflt’not lead young magistrates to make a terrible mess of
some,cases (ﬁhough appeal was there, it was an expensive
business) and (b) on the administrative side could not trial



10.

=3 =

] can
by error lead to grievous r@salt° - hypothetlcally I/thlnk of

several instances When mﬁwh rs of 11£e and death could be

affected by the fact that & young officer had not been given
much 1n3uructlon (Whether jungle 1ore or 0%herw1se) by his
super10r9 ,

Would you have found some technlcal training of a basic nature
in practlcal n&tters 1like 1rr1gat10n, brldge constructlon,
surveying ana mgrlculture a useful aid in your revenue
administrative Work¢ Admlttedly the new departments made

some of thls ummeceasary but it would have been useful even

in your txme - and a great blessxng around the turn of the
century and before.

Answer.
1 don' + remember any case in which a young magistrate, or
alstrlct 3udge, ma&e a terrible mess. Magistrate's work was

| _carrled out Wlth the help of very eble members of the bar

 and was gemerally supervised by G.A. 2t As regards jungle
ylore cadets Went on circuit with their G.A. A. and learned

’ flrst hand in that way. Mistakes were no doubt made on the
bench and in the 3un le but the Civil Service pTOV1ded a
,framework Wlthln which the younw officer found support and
help, and no P. M.,sat in the bench Wlthout having first a

perlod of 1nstruct10n on the bench with an experienced

11,

maglstrate. I sat as a learner with the P.M.,[Police
,nMaglstrate] Colombo in 1920 %nd learned my early lessons
from hlm."'Llfe and death' Was s matter for the Supreme
;Gourt — or the Medlcal E@pt’ Por prectical work in the
aungle statloms We hed Supts. of Nlnor Roads for road,
' brldge and survey*work @nd of course the Ag.[Agricultural]
, fﬁept., Irrlgatlon Bept. and Survey Eept to do the highly
' sk1l1ed work Whlch the A.G.A, or G.A. correlated to the
ends in v1ew.‘ ' ‘

ﬁid'you consiaer Tthat ﬁhare-cropﬁing prevailed to an excessive

_extent 1n Trincomalee Blstrlct¢ 'Would you say that the

peasanﬁs were more indebted and worse off than those in
Anuradhapura Elstrlct or other ozstrlcts in the South-West?

Answer:
1 am‘afraid I don't remember the extent of share cropping
in the Trinco District. I think the peagants’ health was

Probebly & misteke. Read as A.G.A.




better in the E.P. than in N.C.P. They were mostly Temils

and perheaps worked harder than Sinhalese.

id the cooperative credit movement have any influence in

2. B
reducing peasant indebtedness?

Answer:

Yes certainly - but to what extent I could not now remember,
if indeed I ever saw any actusl statistics.




